
 Page 1 

 
 

NOTICE 
OF A 

  PUBLIC HEARING 
TOWN OF CAREFREE  

PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 
 

WHEN: MONDAY, NOVEMBER 08, 2021  

WHERE: ZOOM WEB* 

TIME:  5:00 P.M. 

Pursuant to A.R.S. 38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the Planning 
and Zoning Commission of the Town of Carefree, Arizona and to the general public that 
the members of the Planning and Zoning Commission will hold a public hearing open to 
the public.  Comments from the public will be taken at that time or accepted through 
written submissions. 

Members of the Planning and Zoning Commission are participating by technological 
means or methods pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431(4). 

THE AGENDA FOR THE MEETING IS AS FOLLOWS: 

CALL TO ORDER, SILENT ROLL CALL and PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE. 

ITEM #1 APPROVAL of PLANNING AND ZONING MEETING MINUTES dated 
JUNE 21, 2021. 

ITEM #2 CASE NUMBER:  21-03-GPA 
  

APPLICANT:  Economic Development Division  
Town of Carefree  
8 Sundial Circle  
Carefree AZ 85377  

 
CASE LOCATION:  Generally located at the Northwest Corner of Carefree 

Highway and Tom Darlington Drive  
Tax Parcel Numbers: 216-32-056, 216-32-008J, 216-
32-046, 216-32-045, 216-32-044  
 

ZONING:  Rural-70, Single Family Residential Zoning District / 
All Parcels 

  
REQUEST:  AMEND the General Plan 2030 Land Use Map and 

add a new Special Planning Area Land Use Category 



 Page 2 
 

for the subject properties totaling approximately 21 
acres located at and adjacent to the Northwest corner 
of Carefree Highway and Tom Darlington Drive. 

  
Application documents and plans for this case are available for public review at the 
Carefree Town Hall Administrative Offices, 8 Sundial Circle, Monday through Friday 
between 8:00 a.m. and 4:30 p.m. or call the Planning and Zoning Division at 480-488-
3686. 
 

ITEM #3 ANNOUNCEMENTS 

ITEM #4 ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 
 

Samantha Gesell 
_________________________________ 
SAMANTHA GESELL, PLANNING CLERK 
POSTED NOVEMBER 03, 2021 

 
NOTE: *Due to the risks to public health caused by the possible spread of the COVID-
19 virus at public gatherings, the Town of Carefree has determined that public meetings 
will be indefinitely held through technological means. Meetings will be also open to the 
public through technological means. In reliance on, and compliance with, the March 13, 
2020 Opinion issued by Attorney General Mark Brnovich, the Town of Carefree 
Planning and Zoning Commission provides this special advance notice of the 
technological means through which public meetings may be accessed. Comments from 
the public will be taken at that time or accepted through written submissions. 

On your computer: 

Join Zoom Meeting:  https://us06web.zoom.us/j/2338819248 
 
Meeting ID: 233 881 9248 
 
On your phone:  1-253-215-8782 
 

 FOR SPECIAL ACCOMMODATIONS 
Please contact the Planning Clerk, 8 Sundial Circle  (PO Box 740), Carefree, 
AZ 85377; (480) 488-3686, at least three working days prior to the meeting if 
you require special accommodations due to a disability.  



 

 Page 1 

 

 
 
 

TOWN OF CAREFREE  
PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 

PUBLIC HEARING 
DRAFT MINUTES 

 

WHEN: MONDAY, JUNE 21, 2021  

WHERE: ZOOM WEB* 

TIME:  5:00 P.M. 

Members of the Planning and Zoning Commission participated by technological means or 
methods pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431(4). 

BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT VIA ZOOM:   ABSENT:  
Chairperson Tom Cross      Commissioner Dan Davee 
Vice Chairperson Lyn Hitchon     
Commissioner Heather Burgett  
Commissioner Peter Burns 
Commissioner Phil Corso 
Commissioner Ralph Ferro 
  
STAFF PRESENT VIA ZOOM: 
Stacey Bridge-Denzak, Planning Director 
Samantha Gesell, Planning Clerk 
 
Chairperson Tom Cross called the work session to order at 5:05 p.m. 
 
ITEM #1 APPROVAL of the PLANNING AND ZONING MEETING MINUTES dated MAY 

10, 2021. 

Commissioner Burns MOVED to approve the Planning and Zoning meeting 
minutes dated May 10, 2021 as presented.  SECONDED by Vice Chairperson 
Hitchon.  PASSED unanimously. 

ITEM #2 PUBLIC HEARING to consider proposed amendments to the Town of Carefree 
Zoning Ordinance 10th Publication and to receive comments from the public.  The 
text amendment addresses the definitions for guest quarters, accessory 
structures, and requirements related to regulation of each. 

 Planning Director Stacey Bridge-Denzak commended the Commission on their input and 
discussion at the past work session on May 10, 2021, regarding the proposed amendments to 
the Town of Carefree Zoning Ordinance. 



 

 Page 2 
 

 Ms. Bridge-Denzak reiterated why Staff brought forth the proposed amendments to the 
Commission. First and foremost is to maintain the spirit of the Town's Single Family Zoning 
districts.  Reporting that Staff is finding a lot of the larger single-family properties with sizable 
homes are able to create large casitas, some having more than one bedroom, full kitchens and 
RV garages.  Director Bridge-Denzak explained, this potentially creates an artificial density 
unrelated families living in those casitas that ultimately may produce neighborhood nuisances.  
Additionally, the proposed amendments will assist in enforcing short and long term rentals in 
Town. 

 Having summarized the rationale for the amendments, Director Bridge-Denzak proceeded to 
outline the proposed modifications to Article II. RULES AND DEFINITIONS, Section 2.02.  
Explaining the objective is not to make changes, but to add clarity. Via PowerPoint, Ms. Bridge-
Denzak presented an example of the proposed language: 

(14) BUILDING, ACCESSORY:  A detached structure, not used as living quarters, 
which is subordinate to and incidental to the main use of the principal structure 
on a the same lot.  Accessory structures must be located in the building envelope 
and shall comply with the applicable sections of the is Ordinance. 

 Director Bridge-Denzak proceeded to subsection definition (49) GUEST HOUSE. Considering 
how to incorporate restricted cooking facilities in to the definition as well as implement more 
palatable verbiage in the definitions of today's world.  Again, emphasizing that the second unit 
shall never be rented or offered for rent. 

(49) GUEST HOUSE:  Living quarters in an accessory building or attached to the 
principal residence, which may include limited cooking facilities, used for guests 
or servants on the premises.  used to house guests or domestic attendants of the 
occupants of the principal building, and which shall never be rented or offered for 
rent. 

Ms. Bridge-Denzak continued on to Article IX. GENERAL PROVISIONS, Section 9.02, 
Accessory Buildings and Uses.  

Beginning with subparagraph (3); 

(3) The total cumulative square footage of the livable area in a guest house shall not 
exceed one-third (1/3) of the total square footage of the livable area of the 
principal structure. 

Explaining, the goal is to get a handle on the total square footage calculation.  The new 
definition proposed is still based on livable area square footage of the primary residence but 
now is applied to the cumulative amount for the casita/guest house. This would include, for 
example, a garage under the total square foot cap. 

Director Bridge-Denzak proceeded to subparagraph (6); 

(6) No accessory building shall be built in any required yard (building setback).  Both 
the principal building and guest house shall be served by common single electric 
meter and water meter (if applicable.)  

Ms. Bridge-Denzak recognized it is difficult to enforce these rules at all times, but the new 
language helps. Noting, the proposed language addressing meters may help to deter potential 
violations of long term rentals. 



 

 Page 3 

Proposed are two new subsections: 

(7) Principal buildings and accessory structures shall be served by a single common 
driveway unless approved by the Zoning Administrator. 

(8)  Design of accessory buildings shall be compatible with the design of the principal 
dwelling in materials, colors and architectural style. 

Director Bridge-Denzak pointed out one common driveway serving both the primary home and 
casita/guest house may help deter any rentals by sharing with the main occupants of the 
property.  Recognizing that based on topography or site features, this regulation may not be 
possible in all cases and therefore need to be reviewed by the Zoning Administrator. 

Reviewing subsection (8), Ms. Bridge-Denzak acknowledged how difficult it is to manage design 
and advised that the Town does not have the authority to do so.  Noting, the way the new 
language is written with the buildings and design being compatible; it sends the message of 
cohesiveness without dictating the actual design.  It is language also found in other valley 
communities. 

Director Bridge-Denzak responded to comments and questions from the Commission. 

Chairperson Cross reported that he performed an online search on Airbnb and VRBO websites, 
finding only one non-compliant guest house for rent in the Town of Carefree.  Mr. Cross felt that 
the proposed language is excellent for clarification and falls in line with previous discussions. 

Commissioner Burns inquired about Section 9.02, (3) regarding cumulative square footage. 
Asking if the limitation is on the square footage of all the accessory buildings or just the 
casita/guest house?  Director Bridge-Denzak explained first it pertains only to guest quarters 
through lot coverage- a certain percent of anything under a solid roof based on the zoning 
category the house exists in.   Lot coverage manages the amount of square footage that is on a 
property but not how the square footage is distributed, except now for managing the size of a 
guest house.   

Commissioner Burns suggested removing language not used as living quarters, in subsection 
(14) as it conflicts with other sections of the Zoning Ordinance.  Commissioner Burns also felt 
the language regarding limited cooking facilities in subsection (49) is vague.  Mr. Burns 
suggested leaving the language to read, which may include cooking facilities.   

Commissioner Burgett questioned that by removing the language regarding limited cooking 
facilities in subsection (49), are we reversing the intent to restrict the long term occupation of the 
accessory unit?  Vice Chairperson Hitchon pointed out that if the guest house/casita is used for 
an aging parent or family member, having regular cooking facilities would be preferable. 
Chairperson Cross and Director Bridge-Denzak explained that the goal is to manage vacation 
and long term rentals, noting that "rental" is the key word. Commissioner Burns suggested 
revising the language, shall never be rented or offered for rent adding the clause separate from 
the principal residence. 

Commissioner Burns MOVED to RECOMMEND APPROVAL of Case #21-16-TA to Town 
Council with the following modifications: 

Article II. RULES AND DEFINITIONS, Section 2.02. 

(14) BUILDING, ACCESSORY:  A detached structure which is subordinate to and 
incidental to the main use of the principal structure on the same lot.  Accessory 



 

 Page 4 
 

structures must be located in the building envelope and shall comply with the 
applicable sections of this Ordinance.   

(49) GUEST HOUSE:  Living quarters in an accessory building or attached to the 
principal residence, which may include cooking facilities, used to house guests or 
domestic attendants of the occupants of the principal building, and which shall 
never be rented or offered for rent separate from the principal residence. 

Commissioner Ferro SECONDED the MOTION TO RECOMMEND APPROVAL TO TOWN 
COUNCIL.  The MOTION PASSED, 5 to 1, with Commissioner Burgett dissenting. 

ITEM #3 ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
Director Bridge- Denzak announced that there were will not be Planning and Zoning, 
Development Review Board or Board of Adjustment meetings in July. 
 
ITEM #4 ADJOURNMENT 
 
Commissioner Ferro MOVED to ADJOURN the meeting.  SECONDED by Vice Chairperson 
Hitchon.  PASSED unanimously.  
 
The meeting was adjourned at 5:51 p.m. 
 
 

PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 
 
_________________________________ 
Tom Cross, Chairperson 
 
 
ATTEST 
 

Samantha Gesell, Planning Clerk 
 



 
 

 
11/8/2021 P&Z Meeting                                                          Page 1 of 6 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION - STAFF REPORT 

 
MEETING DATE:  November 8, 2021  Agenda Item # 2 

SUBJECT:  Major General Plan Amendment, Case #21-03-GPA  

Discussion and possible action to consider a request for a Major General Plan Amendment of 
approximately 21 acres from Very Low Density Residential (VLDR) to Special Planning Area 
(SPA) to allow for a future hospitality use with possible ancillary retail. The property is generally 
located at and adjacent to the Northwest corner of Carefree Highway and Tom Darlington Drive. 
The property is more specifically described as Maricopa County Assessor’s Parcel Numbers 
216-32-056, 216-32-008J, 216-32-046, 216-32-045, and 216-32-044.  This is a public hearing 
and public comments will be taken. 

ATTACHMENTS 

Exhibit A. Existing Land Use Map 

Exhibit B. Economic Development Component of the 2020-2022 Town Council 
Strategic Work Plan Proposed Land Use Map 

Exhibit C. Proposed Land Use Map 

Exhibit D. Proposed Special Planning Area Land Use Designation  

Exhibit E. Citizen Participation Report and November 1 Amendment 

 

BACKGROUND  

The land use amendment request encompasses approximately 21 acres of vacant land and is 
located at and adjacent to the Northwest corner of Carefree Highway and Tom Darlington Drive.  

 



 
 

 
11/8/2021 P&Z Meeting                                                          Page 2 of 6 

The 5 parcels are designated on the General Plan 2030 Land Use Map as Very Low Density 
Residential (VLDR).  See Exhibit A.  The parcels are bounded by Carefree Highway to the 
south; Tom Darlington Drive to the east; developed residential lots to the west (Carefree 3B 
subdivision) and Languid Lane to the north.  4 of the subject parcels lie within the Carefree 3B 
plat; the corner 10-acre parcel is unsubdivided, vacant property.   

In August of 2017, the Town held a joint meeting of the Carefree Town Council and Planning 
and Zoning Commission.  The meeting also included members of the Long Range Financial 
Planning Committee and Town staff. The discussion focused on developing strategies to 
continue to meet the Town’s financial responsibilities as it pertained to land use and future 
development of Carefree’s “remnant” or infill properties. At the meeting, it was discussed that 
the Northwest corner was a viable location for a mixed-use development due to its proximity to 
major traffic routes and adjacent existing residential.   

More recently, the Carefree Town Council adopted by Resolution the Economic Development 
Component of the 2020-2022 Town Council Strategic Work Plan.   See Exhibit B.  In this Plan, 
the Northwest corner and associated properties were identified as potentially generating 
revenues with nonresidential uses, specifically hospitality and neighborhood retail.  Further in 
the work plan it states that staff would initiate the General Plan amendment process for 
consideration by both the Planning Commission and Town Council this year.    

To this end, the Town’s Economic Development Division submitted its application with the 
owner’s consent to the Planning and Zoning Division in March of 2021 and is requesting a major 
amendment to the General Plan 2030 Land Use Map and new land use that would change the 
current Very Low Density Residential (VLDR) designations to Special Planning Area (SPA).  
See Exhibits C and D.  This is a major amendment (versus a minor) for two reasons per the 
requirements of the General Plan:   

1) A change in a land use designation shown on the General Plan Future Land Use Map from 
Open Space (OS) and/or any single family residential land use designation (Rural 
Residential - RR, Very Low Density Residential - VLDR and Low Density Residential - LDR) 
to Garden Office (GO), Commercial (C), and/or Resort Hotel/Resort Development (RH/RD); 
and the change occurs on any lot that is a minimum of five (5) acres in size; and, 

2) A text amendment and/or General Plan Future Land Use Map amendment that creates a 
new land use designation which changes the densities and/or intensities of land uses. 

The nature of this request is to allow for a future, high-end, boutique resort/hotel development to 
meet established Town objectives.  There are no other development applications or other 
related proposals associated with this request. 

 

DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

As discussed in the ‘BACKGROUND’ above, the initiation of this Major General Plan 
Amendment was intentional and contemplated as outlined in the Economic Development 
Component of the 2020-2022 Town Council Strategic Work Plan.  And while discussed at a 
public forum of decision makers and interested citizens back in 2017, Carefree always 
anticipated the need to reconsider its land use make up going back to the original Town Center 
Master Plan approved in 1988:  “Carefree can lessen [those] public costs if it wishes by 
encouraging non-residential development of the highest quality and in appropriate locations and 
by supporting the tourist industry, which pays a significant share of the bill.”   By “those” costs 
the master plan is referring to expanded services. There has always been an expectation that 



 
 

 
11/8/2021 P&Z Meeting                                                             Page 3 of 6 
 

as the Town grew, the need for revenue-generating development would be necessary.  This 
concept is still relevant today.  This Amendment is in line with that philosophy. 

From a planning perspective, the General Plan is designed to be a broad, flexible, living 
document that is legally amendable. There are many decisions and events that compel it to 
respond to the changing conditions, needs, and desires of the community.  For one, with the 
growth of North Scottsdale, retail and support services followed.  That is evidenced by the 
nearby shopping centers, Terravita Marketplace and El Pedregal (even The Summit), and the 
presbyterian church.  These adjacent and intense uses have impacted land use patterns in this 
part of Carefree.     

Commercial and commuter traffic exists at the Carefree Highway/Tom Darlington Drive 
intersection as well as along each adjacent roadway.  These roadways are City of Scottsdale 
right-of-way and designated as minor arterials in the City’s Transportation Master Plan.  These 
types of streets are usually made available to commercial uses based on the volume of vehicles 
they can handle each day.  While homes with a similar land use designation exist along each 
street today, it is not ideal.  Many of these subdivisions were platted and developed in the 
1980’s through late 1990’s before Scottsdale and Carefree started seeing significant growth.  
The corner and associated properties have remained vacant from that time onward.   

The request to change the land use designation for the subject parcels to Special Planning Area 
will support the Town’s objectives to diversify its economic portfolio to include a mixture and 
balance of uses that generate revenues for the Town to maintain the residents’ expectations for 
services.  It also responds to increased growth nearby and a transportation network that sees 
high volumes of traffic.   Carefree should take advantage of today’s existing conditions versus 
forcing a land use that is no longer compatible with its surroundings.  While this Special 
Planning Area designation is a more intense land use than its current designation, the 
expectations as outlined in the SPA consider and respect the nearby properties and their uses.  
This land use request is compatible with the area by the inclusion of natural buffers, height and 
development sensitivities, and emphasis on the hospitality aspect of the land use category 
versus a traditional neighborhood retail center.  

 

RELEVANT GENERAL PLAN GOALS, POLICIES, AND OBJECTIVES 

The request is in line with several goals, policies, and objectives of the General Plan 2030, most 
notably:  

▪ Land Use Element (LU), Goal 1:  Encourage the transition from less intense to more 
intense land uses. 

▪ LU Element, Goal 1, Objective/Policy 1): Ensure the transition of commercial uses to 
minimize impact on residential uses. 

▪ LU Element Goal 1, Objective/Policy 2): Sensitively integrate natural open spaces into 
development, such as significant washes, to create natural buffers between different land 
uses. 

In this case, the intensity of the land uses to the south and east are impacting the viability of 
the subject parcels to develop as low density residential in Carefree.  Therefore, the SPA is 
the transitional land use in reverse.  While the proposed land use is considered a more 
intense land use than currently exists, it is tempered by a resort use that will be well-integrated 
into the surrounding area versus a retail center.  The SPA specifically addresses adequate 
natural buffers, preserves the onsite wash, takes into account building massing and intensity, 
expects high quality architecture, and maintains the Sonoran Desert feel in order to mediate 



 
 

 
11/8/2021 P&Z Meeting                                                             Page 4 of 6 
 

impacts to the adjacent neighborhood.  It also meets the standard of development Carefree 
expects.  Traffic is also limited to Carefree Highway and Tom Darlington, with no commercial 
traffic permitted on Languid Lane minimizing impacts to nearby residents.  

▪ LU Element Goal 2: Maintain and enhance the unique character of the community. 

▪ LU Goal 2, Objective/Policy 5): Continue to promote the highest quality of development 
with excellence in architecture, construction and appearance of all buildings. 

▪ LU Goal 5; Objective/Policy 4):  Encourage redevelopment that invigorates the Town 
Center while also respecting the character of the area. 

The way the SPA is crafted gives the Town the ability to expect and demand more from a 
future developer than if left to develop as a low-density subdivision.  A future resort 
development will incorporate premium architecture and a level of design commensurate with 
the high-end nature of Carefree.  Typical branded architectural protypes will not be permitted. 
Although the site is not located within the town center, its close proximity and transient 
population will certainly help bring activity and patrons to the Town Center. 

▪ Open Space (OS) Element, Goal 1. Preserve property with environmentally sensitive 
features; and Objectives/Policies 2) and 3): 

- Promote preservation of floodplains and washes in their natural state; and, 
- Protect low density residential uses from the effects of non-residential uses through 

natural open space buffers. 

Again, the SPA designation clearly states the natural wash shall be preserved according to 
floodplain regulations, as well as maintaining adequate buffers.  This includes existing 
vegetation. 

Lastly, in the Growth Element, the Northwest Corner is identified as a “Future Growth Area”, 
with emphasis on retail businesses over office uses.  A resort use will generate less revenues 
than a traditional commercial use, however, a bed tax will adequately supplement the Town’s 
revenues and be less disruptive to the existing neighborhood. 

 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

As a requirement of the Major General Plan Amendment process as prescribed in the Town’s 
Public Participation Ordinance, the applicant is required to conduct a neighborhood meeting 
with property owners within 500 feet and provide a Citizen Participation Report detailing the 
results of the meeting.  This in turn provides for adequate interaction with parties directly 
impacted by a proposal first and allows for the applicant to understand and mitigate concerns.  
See Exhibit D. 

In this case, Steve Prokopek, Economic Development Director, held 2 neighborhood meetings -  
the first on May 12, 2021, and the second on May 26, 2021.  These meetings were conducted 
in-person in the Town’s Council Chambers.  The outcomes of these meetings are summarized 
in the Citizen Participation Report.  Key items of discussion at each included building height, 
adequate buffers to the adjacent neighborhood, architectural context and quality, viewsheds, 
access, nuisances such as light and noise, and the magnitude of commercial uses in 
association with the overall development.  From these discussions, Mr. Prokopek revised the 
proposed land use to accommodate to the extent possible the neighbors’ concerns without 
compromising the Town’s goals. Steve also engaged in hours of conversations by phone, text, 
and in-person, which often included meeting at the homes of the affected property owner’s most 
impacted by a future development proposal.  It is apparent in the Citizen Participation Report 



 
 

 
11/8/2021 P&Z Meeting                                                             Page 5 of 6 
 

the evolution of the proposed land use following this important interaction from its initial 
application to what Planning and Zoning is reviewing today.       

During this time, on July 21st the required 60-day public official notification was provided to the 
Planning and Zoning Commissioners, Mayor and Town Council, and sent to the following public 
agencies: 

▪ Maricopa County Planning and Development 

▪ Town of Cave Creek 

▪ City of Scottsdale 

▪ City of Phoenix 

▪ Maricopa Association of Governments 

▪ Arizona State Land Department 

▪ Bureau Of Land Management 

▪ Arizona Dept. of Water Resources 

▪ Flood Control District of Maricopa County 

The notification included a cover letter and attachment of the proposed land use and map 
amendment at that time.  No comments were received by staff from any of the agencies listed. 
Furthermore, all public utilities were also made aware of the Major General Plan Amendment.  
The Carefree Water Company clearly stated that they have adequate resources to serve a 
resort use at this location.  The sites are in the Liberty Utilities service area; however, no other 
comments were received from Liberty.  No other utilities responded either.  Information 
throughout the process was also included on the Town’s web page, specifically the Economic 
Development page under “Hospitality Growth Strategy”, which was updated as the process 
unfolded:   

  

There was also a link on the Planning and Zoning’s tab back to Economic Development: 

 

Lastly, due to the public hearings being held via Zoom, Mr. Prokopek offered 6, in-person 
meeting opportunities to the general public to review the proposal and answer any questions of 
concern related to the Amendment.  An addition to the Citizen Participation Report was 
submitted to staff.  See Exhibit E.  At those meetings, comments pertaining to the application 
included traffic, future access at the development, and building height and high-quality design.  
Most discussions focused on other issues such as funding future services, revitalization of Town 
Center, and general communication by the Town with the overall community.  There was no 
stated opposition to the project at any of the meetings. 

 

 

 



 
 

 
11/8/2021 P&Z Meeting                                                             Page 6 of 6 
 

PUBLIC HEARING NOTIFICATION  

As required under A.R.S. 9-461.06 Adoption and amendment of general plan, proper notice 
which includes notice of the time and place of the public hearing was published in the Sonoran 
News on October 20, 2021, and the Record Reporter on October 22, 2021.  Posting of the site 
occurred on October 22, 2021, meeting relevant statutory requirements also.  As of the time of 
this report, no support or opposition to this case has been received by the Planning and Zoning 
Division. 

 

SUMMARY 

The Major General Plan Amendment constitutes an overall improvement to the Town’s General 
Plan and benefits the community with no intended adverse impacts.  It is also consistent with 
other policies and regulations for Carefree.  A future resort development will be a premier and 
quality destination, well designed and integrated into its surroundings.  It provides for a land use 
category that will allow for the development of a hospitality use with ancillary services that is 
compatible with existing development and will better reflect the development needs of the area.  
The amendment is in conformance with the Goals, Objectives, and Policies of the Carefree 
General Plan, and will not adversely impact the community as a whole. 

 



EXHIBIT A 
 

Town of Carefree Major General Plan Amendment       CURRENT LAND USE 
 

 

Subject Parcels 



Stacey
Typewritten Text
				EXHIBIT B

Stacey
Typewritten Text

Stacey
Typewritten Text

Stacey
Typewritten Text

Stacey
Typewritten Text













EXHIBIT C 
 

Town of Carefree Major General Plan Amendment     PROPOSED LAND USE 
 

 

Subject Parcels 



21-3-GPA Proposed General Plan Text Amendment 

Special Planning Area: Northwest Corner of Carefree Highway and Tom Darlington Drive 

The area, is comprised of 5 contiguous parcels totaling approximately 21 acres, each with frontage along 

Tom Darlington Drive and/or Carefree Highway.  The surrounding uses include 1.6 to 2 acre lots to the 

north and west, neighborhood commercial to the south, a church complex to the east, and a residential 

and resort community known as The Boulders to the northeast of the church property. The subject area is 

comprised of a major wash, boulders and rock outcroppings, and Sonoran Desert vegetation.  Given its 

proximity to the intensive uses to the south and the east and primary access via arterial streets, a more 

economically sustainable, destination-based hospitality/resort use, with limited compatible commercial 

retail uses, provided that the development: 1) Establishes an adequate buffer to the very low density resi-

dential neighborhood to the west; 2) Provides for the continued preservation of the natural wash in ac-

cordance with floodplain regulations and the Carefree 3B Final Plat; 3) Supports the Town’s fiscal and eco-

nomic development goals, and aligns with the evolving commercial nature and resort lifestyle found in the 

area; 4) Utilizes high quality architectural character contextual materials, desert colors, all sited uniquely 

into the existing landforms complementing the existing adjacent and nearby uses, and avoiding commer-

cially branded architecture to provide a unique and cohesive design character; 5) Utilizes massing, height 

and density to minimize site disturbance and where site intensity takes into account proximity to adjacent 

uses, and is thoughtful of adjacent homeowner views to prominent land forms ; 6) Focuses retail compo-

nents east and south of the existing wash, or where  not to have an impact on existing residential; 7) Incor-

porates the natural Sonoran Desert landscape; 8) Prohibits any access to Whileaway Road and commercial 

or delivery access via Languid Lane. 

 

Additional allowable Use 

The northern two lots could remain Very Low Density Residential. 

 

Uses Not Allowed 

The land use is not intended to have the look and feel of a retail center or general office development. 

While neighborhood retail uses are allowable, they should be incorporated into the character of a hospital-

ity/resort destination. There shall be no drive through uses, gas stations/car washes/garages, storage, box 

stores, and/or fast-food pads. 

Stacey
Typewritten Text

Stacey
Typewritten Text
			

Stacey
Typewritten Text
EXHIBIT D



SPA 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

Proposed General Plan Map Amendment 

Special Planning Area: Northwest Corner of Carefree Highway and Tom Darlington Drive 



21-3-GPA Timing and Engagement 

 

April 21, 2021  Sent original certified letters to neighbors within 500 feet 

 

May 12, 2021  First Neighborhood Meeting 

 

May 26, 2021  Second Neighborhood Meeting 

 

June 2021   Revised Amendment to include staff and public input 

 

July 2021  Amendment Text and Map draft sent out for 60- day review period 

 to outside jurisdictions 

 

September 2021  Finalize Amendment Text and Map for Planning and Zoning  

  Commission consideration  

 

October 13, 2021  Certified letters notifying residents, within 500 feet, of Planning 

    and Zoning Commission public hearing 

 

October 20 –22, 2021 Publish Hearing Notice Advertisement/Signs Placed on site 

 

October  27-28, 2021 6 Community Open Houses 

 

November  8, 2021 Planning and Zoning Public Hearing 

 
December  7, 2021  Town Council Public Hearing 
 
Note:  This process is only for the General Plan.  Any future project would need to further 
seek rezoning consistent to this General Plan amendment. 



21-3-GPA Addendum to Neighborhood and Community Engagement 

 On October 27, 2021 and October 28, 2021, the Town hosted 6 community open house 

sessions to solicit in-person input regarding the General Plan Amendment at the Northwest 

Corner of Tom Darlington Drive and Carefree Highway.  The session were held each day at 

3:00pm, 4:30pm and 5:00pm in the Town Council Chambers (33 Easy Street) .  Each session was 

limited to 35 people to accommodate social distancing.  In total, 37 people registered for all 3 

sessions, and 31 people attended the sessions, with one comment submitted from a resident 

on Languid Lane.  This resident requested that no commercial access be allowed on Languid 

Lane.  This comment was captured in the most current version of the General Plan Text 

Amendment. 

Outreach for the session included two notifications through the electronic newsletter 

notification system, as well as an email sent to carefree HOA contacts, including Terravita in 

Scottsdale.  In addition, the information was also sent to all those signed up for information on 

the General Plan Amendment, and the information was available on the Town website. 

The sessions included a presentation from Steve Prokopek, Economic Development Director, 

with Stacey Bridge-Denzak in attendance from Town staff.  The presentation went through the 

rationale for the land use change and why the Town made the request, the rationale for resort 

as use, the neighborhood engagement process and next steps.  Additionally, Steve explained 

the difference between a general plan amendment and rezoning, the latter of which will still 

need to occur when a viable project is proposed. 

There didn’t seem to be any resistance to the use.  Key issues included: 

1. Traffic and access 

2. Design and height (Though it seemed everyone was ok with the current standards of 30 

foot for commercial and 24-foot for residential) 

3. Unique nature of design to fit the high-quality environment 

4. Most discussion centered around other issue such as Town Center and future services 

 

Attached is the presentation and hand out.  The presentation was also was available as a 

handout.   

Stacey
Text Box
EXHIBIT E1



21-3-GPA
GENERAL PLAN AMENDMENT
NORTHWEST CORNER TOM 
DARLINGTON DRIVE AND CAREFREE 
HIGHWAY
OCTOBER 27 AND OCTOBER 28, 2021

COMMUNITY OPEN HOUSE

PRESENTED BY: STEVE PROKOPEK, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR



ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

• Creation of wealth within the community

• Diversified revenue streams for providing public services

• Carefree does not collect property taxes

• Carefree is limited to a small group of key retailers

• Carefree losing one time construction sales tax and adding increasing costs

• Long-term community sustainability through a comprehensive mix of 

commercial services that support the local economy

• Mix of Product Development, Price (Value), Position and Promotion



• Cave Creek Rd/Carefree Hwy

• General Plan - Commercial

• Zoning - Commercial

• Acres - 24

• Anticipated Development

• Regional Retail

• Neighborhood Retail

• Estimated Tax Potential

• $1,200,000

• Carefree Hwy/Tom Darlington Dr

• General Plan - Residential

• Zoning – Rural-70

• Acres – 20.5

• Anticipated Development

• Low Density Resort

• Estimated Tax Potential

• $800,000

• 45 Acre State Land Site

• General Plan - Residential

• Zoning – Rural-70

• Acres – 45 

• Anticipated Development

• Mixed-Use

• Estimated Tax Potential

• $1,300,000

• Town Center

• Hampton Inn

• Potential for additional 50,000 

square feet of retail maximizing 

additional 5 acres

• Baker Study showed support of 

41,000 SF 2020-2030

• Estimated New Tax Potential

• $550,000



GENERAL PLAN AND ZONING

• General Plan – Guiding principles of land use, the larger vision

• Zoning – Legal entitlement that allows for the development of an allowable use

• Both processes require neighborhood engagement, proper posting, and public 

hearings with both Planning & Zoning and Town Council.

• This General Plan Amendment will amend the current Very Low Density Residential 

Use to Special Planning Area.  The Zoning will remain Rural-70.  Any future 

development, not currently permitted in Rural-70, will require a rezoning process.

• Special Planning Area is a customized designation that allows for commercial uses. 

The use requires that a comprehensive site plan be provided at the time of rezoning.



WHY A RESORT?

• Carefree has always been a destination, and 

since its beginnings has had resort use

• Resort is one of the least intensive commercial 

uses

• The major arterial intersection is already 

commercial on 3 corners

• Will support Town Center and local businesses 

by bringing in discretionary spending

• Resorts are proven to be successful when 

properly integrated into upscale neighborhoods 

including The Boulders, Civana, and the dozens 

in Scottsdale and Paradise Valley



NEIGHBORHOOD ENGAGEMENT

• Two Neighborhood Meetings

• Multiple email, text, in-person and phone call follow up conversations

• Key Issues

• Validity of Use

• Buffering

• Open space, desert preservation and unique architecture

• View Protection

• Access to residential streets

• Height, density and intensity of use adjacency

• No strip mall commercial, any retail should be integrated into the resort use

• Noise and lighting





21-3-GPA Proposed General Plan Text Amendment 

Special Planning Area: Northwest Corner of Carefree Highway and Tom Darlington Drive 

The area, is comprised of 5 contiguous parcels totaling approximately 21 acres, each with frontage along 

Tom Darlington Drive and/or Carefree Highway.  The surrounding uses include 1.6 to 2 acre lots to the 

north and west, neighborhood commercial to the south, a church complex to the east, and a residential 

and resort community known as The Boulders to the northeast of the church property. The subject area is 

comprised of a major wash, boulders and rock outcroppings, and Sonoran Desert vegetation.  Given its 

proximity to the intensive uses to the south and the east and primary access via arterial streets, a more 

economically sustainable, destination-based hospitality/resort use, with limited compatible commercial 

retail uses, provided that the development: 1) Establishes an adequate buffer to the very low density resi-

dential neighborhood to the west; 2) Provides for the continued preservation of the natural wash in ac-

cordance with floodplain regulations and the Carefree 3B Final Plat; 3) Supports the Town’s fiscal and eco-

nomic development goals, and aligns with the evolving commercial nature and resort lifestyle found in the 

area; 4) Utilizes high quality architectural character contextual materials, desert colors, all sited uniquely 

into the existing landforms complementing the existing adjacent and nearby uses, and avoiding commer-

cially branded architecture to provide a unique and cohesive design character; 5) Utilizes massing, height 

and density to minimize site disturbance and where site intensity takes into account proximity to adjacent 

uses, and is thoughtful of adjacent homeowner views to prominent land forms ; 6) Focuses retail compo-

nents east and south of the existing wash, or where  not to have an impact on existing residential; 7) Incor-

porates the natural Sonoran Desert landscape; 8) Prohibits access to Whileaway Road. 

 

Additional allowable Use 

The northern two lots could remain Very Low Density Residential. 

 

Uses Not Allowed 

The land use is not intended to have the look and feel of a retail center or general office development. 

While neighborhood retail uses are allowable, they should be incorporated into the character of a hospital-

ity/resort destination. There shall be no drive through uses, gas stations/car washes/garages, storage, box 

stores, and/or fast-food pads. 

Stacey
Typewritten Text
Handout

Stacey
Typewritten Text
	



SPA 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

Proposed General Plan Map Amendment 

Special Planning Area: Northwest Corner of Carefree Highway and Tom Darlington Drive 



21-3-GPA Timing and Engagement 

 

April 21, 2021  Sent original certified letters to neighbors within 500 feet 

 

May 12, 2021  First Neighborhood Meeting 

 

May 26, 2021  Second Neighborhood Meeting 

 

June 2021   Revised Amendment to include staff and public input 

 

July 2021  Amendment Text and Map draft sent out for 60- day review period 

 to outside jurisdictions 

 

September 2021  Finalize Amendment Text and Map for Planning and Zoning  

  Commission consideration  

 

October 13, 2021  Certified letters notifying residents, within 500 feet, of Planning 

    and Zoning Commission public hearing 

 

October 20 –22, 2021 Publish Hearing Notice Advertisement/Signs Placed on site 

 

October  27-28, 2021 6 Community Open Houses 

 

November  8, 2021 Planning and Zoning Public Hearing 

 
December  7, 2021  Town Council Public Hearing 
 
Note:  This process is only for the General Plan.  Any future project would need to further 
seek rezoning consistent to this General Plan amendment. 



General Plan Amendment Community Open House for Northwest Corner of Tom Darlington Drive and 
Carefree Highway 
 
As a member of the community, and prior to upcoming public hearings on November 8 and December 7, 
you are invited to attend a community open house regarding a General Plan Amendment for the 21-
acres located at the Northwest Corner of Carefree Highway and Tom Darlington Drive.  Due to these 
hearings being conducted via Zoom, the Town would like to extend to the general public the opportunity 
for in-person engagement.  To allow for comfort and safety, and greater opportunity for participation, 
the Town will offer six 1-hour open house sessions.  The open house sessions will be held at 33 Easy 
Street (Town Council Chambers) on October 27th and October 28th, 2021.  Sessions will be limited to 35 
people per meeting, and will be held at 3:00 pm, 4:30 pm and 6:00 pm on both days.  Face coverings 
(full face plastic shields, as recommended by the ADA are acceptable) will be required.  To sign up for 
a session, please send an email to steve@carefree.org, or call Steve at 623-694-2605. You can only 
sign up for a single session. Please provide name and home address.     
 
During this open house, Steve Prokopek, Economic Development Director, will provide a brief 
presentation, and allow for questions and comments related to the proposed amendment.  This meeting 
is not a public hearing, no decision makers will be present and no decisions will be made.      
 
If you are not familiar with the proposed General Plan Amendment, this change would accommodate 
the future high-end resort and supporting retail.  You can also visit www.carefree.org and find more 
information on the Economic Development Page under Growth and Development.  In summary, as part 
of the approved Town Economic Development Plan, this site was identified as a key location to diversify 
the Town’s revenue base, while proposing a use that was consistent with adjacent uses and could fit in 
with existing residences.  The Town sees this 21-acres as a key piece to the Town’s financial 
sustainability, and that a resort use will fit in with the current resort mix and further support small 
businesses in the Town Center. 
 
To date, there have been 2 neighborhood level meetings and neighborhood engagement, as well as, 
outside jurisdictional input.  The next steps in the process include two public hearings:  Planning and 
Zoning Commission on November 8, 2021 and Town Council on December 7, 2021.   
 
Please note:  This is for a General Plan amendment only.  There is no site plan, project or zoning 
application at this time. The General Plan does not provide specific project details, and is the high level 
document governing the allowable use of the site.   Any specific project, proposed for the site, would 
require a second phase of neighborhood engagement and public hearing process (Planning and Zoning 
and Town Council) to ensure the site plan and zoning request adhere to the general plan.  In essence a 
two-step legislative process.  The use category proposed for this site is Special Planning Area, which 
allows for a more customized approach when establishing a commercial or mixed use.  When zoning is 
created, a higher level of detailed stipulations will be created based upon the site plan submittal that 
meet the vision established in the general plan. 
 
If you can’t make the open house, a comprehensive presentation will be made at each of the public 
hearings, and you are encouraged to participate in the public hearing via Zoom, or feel free to provide a 
comment to steve@carefree.org. 
 
Again, to ensure continued public safety, the Town will limit the number of participants per session to 
35 allowing for social distancing.   

mailto:steve@carefree.org
http://www.carefree.org/
Stacey
Typewritten Text
					Newsletter Notification

Stacey
Typewritten Text
		

Stacey
Typewritten Text
 

Stacey
Typewritten Text
	

Stacey
Typewritten Text
	

Stacey
Typewritten Text



Proposed General Plan Text Amendment 
Special Planning Area: Northwest Corner of Carefree Highway and Tom Darlington Drive 
The area, is comprised of 5 contiguous parcels totaling approximately 21 acres each with frontage along 
Tom Darlington Drive and Carefree Highway.  The surrounding uses include 1.6 to 2 acre lots to the 
north and west, neighborhood commercial to the south, a church complex to the east, and a residential 
and resort community known as The Boulders to the northeast of the church property. The subject area 
is comprised of a major wash, boulders and rock outcroppings, and Sonoran Desert vegetation.  Given its 
proximity to the intensive uses to the south and the east and primary access via arterial streets, a more 
economically sustainable, destination-based hospitality/resort use, with limited compatible commercial 
retail uses, provided that the development: 1) Establishes an adequate buffer to the very low density 
residential neighborhood to the west; 2) Provides for the continued preservation of the natural wash in 
accordance with floodplain regulations and the Carefree 3B Final Plat; 3) Supports the Town’s fiscal and 
economic development goals, and aligns with the evolving commercial nature and resort lifestyle found 
in the area; 4) Utilizes high quality architectural character contextual materials, desert colors, all sited 
uniquely into the existing landforms complementing the existing adjacent and nearby uses, and avoiding 
commercially branded architecture to provide a unique and cohesive design character; 5) Utilizes 
massing, height and density to minimize site disturbance and where site intensity takes into account 
proximity to adjacent uses, and is thoughtful of adjacent homeowner views to prominent land forms ; 6) 
Focuses retail components east and south of the existing wash, or where  not to have an impact on 
existing residential; 7) Incorporates the natural Sonoran Desert landscape; 8) Prohibits access to 
Whileaway Road. 
 
Additional allowable Use 
The northern two lots could remain Very Low Density Residential. 
 
Uses Not Allowed 
The land use is not intended to have the look and feel of a retail center or general office development. 
While neighborhood retail uses are allowable, they should be incorporated into the character of a 
hospitality/resort destination. There shall be no drive through uses, gas stations/car washes/garages, 
storage, box stores, and/or fast-food pads. 
 
  
 

 

SPA





  

 

General Plan Amendment (21-3-GPA) 

Neighborhood Engagement Report 
October 14, 2021 

Prepared by: Steve Prokopek 
Economic Development 
Director 
      

 



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

1 
 

Contents 
Executive Summary ....................................................................................................................................... 2 

Engagement Prior to 1st Neighborhood Meeting ......................................................................................... 8 

May 12, 2021 - 1st Neighborhood Meeting ................................................................................................. 24 

Engagement Prior to 2nd Neighborhood Meeting ....................................................................................... 38 

May 26, 2021 - 2nd Neighborhood Meeting ................................................................................................ 40 

Follow Up Engagement From Neighborhood Meetings ............................................................................. 54 

Conclusion ................................................................................................................................................... 66 

 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

2 
 

Executive Summary 
The following documentation is a chronicle of the neighborhood engagement effort which includes two 

in-person neighborhood meetings, as well as direct engagement with multiple area property owners. 

This was an evolutionary process regarding a resort/retail land use for approximately 21-acres on the 

Northwest Corner of Tom Darlington Dr and Carefree Highway.  Through this process, we engaged those 

most affected by the planned use change, and surrounding area, and took the time to educate them on 

the land use rationale, while incorporating their experience and potential impacts to that experience 

with the enjoyment of their properties.  As with many land use cases, the primary issues tend to be 

around the land use itself, which was the focus of initial comments and input.  Staff presented in two 2-

hour presentations the need and direction set by council for diversifying the economic base, and how 

this site makes sense for a resort/retail use.  This included how the site fit in with the Town’s revenue 

goals (see page 50), comparable locations such as Paradise Valley, and the complementary nature to 

support Town Center.  One concern that was brought up, was commercial vacancy across Carefree 

Highway.  After speaking with the commercial center property owner, the vacant grocery store is 

actually in process of being leased for an alternative use.  Additionally, there was concern with having 

the opportunity for neighborhood retail, and the compatibility with a resort and impacts on adjacent 

homes.  This retail element did evolve by limiting retail center development look and feel, defining that 

retail should be in support of the resort and incorporated into the resort design. 

As the conversation evolved, there was a heavier focus on site impacts, especially with the properties 

adjacent to or directly impacted by the potential change of use.  Extensive conversations (in person, 

email, text and phone calls) occurred with these property owners, most of them Carefree residents, 

which led to qualitative edits to the document meeting neighbor concerns.  Additionally, comments 

from the subject site property owner were also included, with the current version approved by the 

property owner. 

The following summary lists the specific issues, requests and resolutions: 

1. Building height and intensity of development to adjacent uses – Several neighbors requested 

single story only. In addition, they requested maximization of buffering and natural open space.  

In discussion with the Planning Director, height and floors are exclusive things.  Commercial 

zoning allows for 30 feet, residential 24 feet.  In addition stacked density can allow for les lot 

coverage while meeting FARs.  Therefore, the intention of the language was to allow for 

flexibility in this interplay of density and coverage, while ensuring that these intensities and use 

types match up to the adjacent uses to the site.  One could assume more intensity towards the 

intersection, and less intensity towards the residential.     
2. Ensuring adequate buffering – Specific buffering and requests for no development west of the 

wash. The result of the conversation was to ensure adequate buffering to be included for 

consideration in any zoning request.  However, it is noted that the existing wash foliage on both 

sides is very effective, and the flood plain itself limits the developable areas west of the wash.  

Also noted are the touch points with the Grenley residence and Ellison residence.  (See page 58)  

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

3 
 

3. The architecture fits into the character of the Sonoran Desert area – The architecture should be 

unique, quality and in character with desert design.  One issue specifically brought up was the 

branding of Hampton Hotel in Town Center, and the neighbors wanted to make sure this 

architecture is unique to the subject site. 
4. Washes and natural landforms be incorporated into development  
5. Limitations to the look and feel of any retail component to be confined to the area east and 

south of the wash, and incorporated into the overall resort design.  Site shouldn’t look or feel 

like a typical retail center.  While retail uses can be on site, they need to be in context with the 

design and architecture of the resort. 
6. Any development should be conscious of the existing views of prominent land features to the 

east of Tom Darlington Drive – This was added after site evaluation, and needs to be addressed 

in site plan and zoning. 
7. No access to Whileaway Road from the subject site. 
8. No commercial access to Languid Lane – Fire access may be required, but no commercial entry is 

anticipated. 
9. No development west of the wash, especially on parcel 5 (See Page 54) – After analyzing this 

request, it was determined that setbacks and floodplain will make this area impossible for 

structures. 
10. Light and sound impacts – Again, this will need to be addressed at site plan and zoning, but the 

spirit of the “dark sky” should be incorporated as to not take away from night-time enjoyment 

of neighboring homes. 
11. Intersection at Languid Lane and Tom Darlington – Homeowners called this intersection out as 

dangerous.  Perhaps there is an opportunity to address it in the site plan process. 
12. Removal of lots 1 and 2 from the amendment – The rationale for this was building intensities 

and view blockage of the “Boulder Stack” form the Veves residence (See Page 57).  After 

analyzing the sites, it appears that the base of the “Boulder Stack” is taller than 24-foot (which is 

allowable today), and the Veves home is raised about 15 feet above grade.  Additionally, the 

subject site property owner received advice from a resort consultant that this area would be 

beneficial in providing a diversity of resort options including villas and casitas, which are of a 

more residential nature.  Based upon this analysis, the parcels remained with the additional 

amendment stipulation to be conscious of views.   

 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

4 
 

Executive Summary Exhibits 

 

Exhibit 1 - Original Version of General Plan Amendment 

Exhibit 2 - Current Version General Plan Amendment 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

5 
 

Exhibit 1 - Original Version of General Plan Amendment 

 



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

6 
 

Exhibit 2 - Current Version of General Plan Amendment 

Proposed General Plan Text Amendment 

Special Planning Area: Northwest Corner of Carefree Highway and Tom Darlington Drive 

The area is comprised of 5 contiguous parcels totaling approximately 21 acres, each with frontage along 

Tom Darlington Drive and Carefree Highway.  The surrounding uses include 1.6 to 2 acre lots to the 

north and west, neighborhood commercial to the south, a church complex to the east, and a residential 

and resort community known as The Boulders to the northeast of the church property. The subject area 

is comprised of a major wash, boulders and rock outcroppings, and Sonoran Desert vegetation.  Given its 

proximity to the intensive uses to the south and the east and primary access via arterial streets, a more 

economically sustainable, destination-based hospitality/resort use, with limited compatible commercial 

retail uses, provided that the development: 1) Establishes an adequate buffer to the very low density 

residential neighborhood to the west; 2) Provides for the continued preservation of the natural wash in 

accordance with floodplain regulations and the Carefree 3B Final Plat; 3) Supports the Town’s fiscal and 

economic development goals, and aligns with the evolving commercial nature and resort lifestyle found 

in the area; 4) Utilizes high quality architectural character contextual materials, desert colors, all sited 

uniquely into the existing landforms complementing the existing adjacent and nearby uses, and avoiding 

commercially branded architecture to provide a unique and cohesive design character; 5) Utilizes 

massing, height and density to minimize site disturbance and where site intensity takes into account 

proximity to adjacent uses, and is thoughtful of adjacent homeowner views to prominent land forms ; 6) 

Focuses retail components east and south of the existing wash, or where  not to have an impact on 

existing residential; 7) Incorporates the natural Sonoran Desert landscape; 8) Prohibits access to 

Whileaway Road. 

 Additional Allowable Use 

The northern two lots could remain Very Low Density Residential. 

 Uses Not Allowed 

The land use is not intended to have the look and feel of a retail center or general office development. 

While neighborhood retail uses are allowable, they should be incorporated into the character of a 

hospitality/resort destination. There shall be no drive through uses, gas stations/car washes/garages, 

storage, box stores, and/or fast-food pads. 

 



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

7 
 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

8 
 

Engagement Prior to 1st Neighborhood Meeting 
43 Certified Letters were sent to neighbors and affected jurisdictions within 500 feet.  24 Delivered 

receipts were returned along with 4 returned letters.  Of the 4 returned, direct contact was made with 

each.  Additionally, both the Boulders HOA and Terravita HOAs were contacted and notified of the 2 

Neighborhood meetings. 

Note:  Boulders HOA did not receive a letter, so a follow up email with the information was sent to the 

HOA management company and receipt was conformed by the HOA manager on . There was no further 

information requested from the Boulder’s HOA. 

May 6 - Marty Ellison (34611 N Whileaway) - Met at front counter to provide letter and background 

information.  He believes the letter was sent to Seattle.  He will be at the open house, and was hoping 

the area would stay residential. Letter was returned, received public comments from Marty and Linda 

Ellison, which are in Exhibits.  These were dropped of on 5/12 during the first open house.  

May 5 - Brent Nerguizian (7022 Languid Lane) - Is not opposed to the application, but wants to make 

sure the site has a low density feel and appropriate architectural characteristics that complement the 

area, low light, no large parking fields and no intense traffic uses.  Does not want any delivery access off 

of Languid Lane. 

May 5 - Terravita HOA (5/5/2021) - Called to get information on the open house, and appreciated that 

we reached out. 

May 10 - Paul Sharman (34606 N. Whileaway) - We spoke for about an hour regarding the application, 

and I hand delivered updated materials for Paul’s review with neighbors that evening. 

May 10 - Stephanie Barbour (Boulder’s Resident) - Stephanie sent an email questioning the use viability 

and character of Carefree as a retirement community.  A response was sent outlining the merits and 

vision of Carefree as a resort community as approved by Town Council, and the need to balance revenue 

with use.  

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

9 
 

Engagement Prior to 1st Open House Exhibits 

 

Exhibit 1 - Notification Area 

Exhibit 2 - Mailing List  

Exhibit 3 - Letter Sent to Neighbors 

Exhibit 4 - Email to Boulders HOA Management 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

10 
 

Exhibit 1 – Notification Area 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

11 
 

Exhibit 2 – Mailing List 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

12 
 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

13 
 

Exhibit 3 – Letter Sent to Neighbors        
 

 

TOWN OF CAREFREE 
 

8 SUNDIAL CIRCLE 

P.O. BOX 740 

CAREFREE, ARIZONA 85377 

(480) 488-3686 • FAX (480) 488-3845 

 

        
April 21, 2021 

Dear Property Owner, 
 
The purpose of this letter is to notify you of a Major General Plan Amendment, Case Number 
21-03-GPA for approximately 21-acres at the Northwest Corner of Tom Darlington Drive and 
Carefree Highway. A summary of the request is enclosed for your review. The Town of 
Carefree, as applicant, is notifying and providing adjacent owners opportunity for input. 
 
There are two planned public open houses that will allow for in person Q&A, as well as a 
comment drop box.  Feel free to participate in either or both.  
 
Open House 1 – May 12, 2021 
Open House 2 – May 26, 2021 
 
Time: 5:00 PM to 7:00 PM 
 
Location: Carefree Council Chambers 
                33 Easy Street 
      Carefree, AZ  85377 
 
Additionally, if you would prefer, you can contact me with any questions or comments. 
 
The request is to change the underlying use from Super Low Density Residential, to Special 
Planning Area.  Special Planning Area designation is considered a non-residential use per the 
Carefree General Plan 2030.   
 
Current Zoning on the site is Rural-70.  There is no requested zoning change, or specific project 
requested, at this time.  Any zoning amendment would require a project site plan and generate 
its own public input and legislative approval process. 
 
Please see the further enclosed information regarding the request and COVID-19 notification. 
 
Thank You, 
 
Steve Prokopek 
Economic Development Director – Town of Carefree 
623-694-2605 
steve@carefree.org 



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

14 
 

Covid-19 Notification 
 
 

1. Face Coverings are required inside the Council Chambers.   
2. There will be a 20-person limit inside the Council Chambers at any given time 
3. Hand sanitizer will be available 
4. No food or drink will be allowed in the Council Chambers 
5. Please use best efforts to 6-foot social distance 
6. A comment box will be available outside Council Chambers 
7. If you are unable to attend due to these COVID-19 Guidelines, please notify the 

following for alternative arrangements, which can include meeting outside the 
council chambers during the Open House time frame. 

 
Steve Prokopek 
623-694-2605 
steve@carefree.org 
  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

15 
 

Area Context Map 
 

 
 



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

16 
 

Parcels 
Source – Maricopa County Assessor 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

1 

2 

3 

ID Parcel  Square Feet  Acres 

1 216-32-044  95,091  2.18 

2 216-32-045  108,913 2.50 

3 216-32-046  147,081 3.38 

4 216-32-008J  450,651 10.35 

5 216-32-056  98,925 2.27 

    900,661 20.68 

4 

5 



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

17 
 

Proposed General Plan Map Amendment 
 
Please visit www.carefree.org/156/Planning-Zoning to review the current general plan. 
 
  

Existing Land Use 

Very Low Density Residential - VLDR 

Proposed Land Use 

Special Planning Area - SPA 

SPA 

http://www.carefree.org/156/Planning-Zoning


October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

18 
 

 

Proposed General Plan Text Amendment 
 
Special Planning Area: Northwest Corner of Carefree Highway and Tom Darlington Drive. 
 
The land use category for the area located north of Carefree Highway and West of Tom 
Darlington Drive, including the 21-acre site on the frontage of these roadways has historically 
been designated in the general plan as low density residential.  The use adjacent to the south of 
the 21-acre site is retail/grocery commercial, and to the west, is a church and the Boulders 
Resort and community, including a retail center on the Boulders property to the southeast of 
the 21-acre site.  The 21-acre site comprises a wash, and several rock formations along with 
Sonoran Desert species.  Given its proximity to the corner of a commercial intersection, and 
primary access via arterial streets, a more sustainable, destination resort, ancillary commercial 
and limited neighborhood commercial is expected provided that (1)  Establishes and adequate 
open space buffer to the low density residential neighborhood to the west (2) Provides for the 
preservation of the natural wash in its natural state in accordance with floodplain regulations, 
and (3) Provides an economically sustainable land use that would complement the evolving 
neighborhood commercial uses and destination resort lifestyle.  (4) Provides an architectural 
character that is complimentary to the adjacent land uses to the east in both design and height 
and density.   
 
Please visit www.carefree.org/156/Planning-Zoning to review the current general plan. 
  

http://www.carefree.org/156/Planning-Zoning


October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

19 
 

Application Summary 
 

Description 
The proposal is to change the land use designation on the 20.68-acre parcel, located at the 
northwest corner of Carefree Highway and Tom Darlington Drive, and depicted on the Area 
Context Map , from Very Low Density Residential, to a non-residential use under the Special 
Planning Area Designation, as depicted on the Proposed General Plan Map Amendment.  This 
action requires a Major Amendment, according to the Carefree Arizona General Plan 2030.  The 
action will also require both a map amendment and a text amendment.  The proposed text 
amendment would amend the Carefree Arizona General Plan 2030 to add the language 
described on the Proposed General Plan Text Amendment. 
 
The Special Planning Area will allow for commercial uses with a focus on destination facilities 
such resorts, restaurants, community centers, museums and ancillary retail, but will not 
prohibit other uses such as neighborhood retail, which would be limited to the current 10.38- 
acre Parcel 2 and the area east of the wash on Parcel 3 (Exhibit B).  Uses not considered 
neighborhood retail include: large grocery stores, box retail (single tenant>15,000 SF), gas 
stations, car washes, fast food pads, drive through establishments, and other uses that 
encourage excessive traffic per square foot, noise, lighting and parking fields.  Anticipated 
neighborhood uses include single boutique grocery, sit-down restaurants, specialty shops, 
general neighborhood retail shops and services.  Additionally, Parcel 1,2 and the northern 
portion of 3, north of the wash, could accommodate a residential use as transition to the 
existing neighborhoods to the north. 
 
The current zoning for all parcels is Rural-70, which would then become a non-conforming 
zoning.  In order to comply with the proposed land use change, an additional zoning application 
will need to be made to the Town of Carefree.  As this is a Special Planning Area, application for 
zoning will be made by the property owner, or prospective owner/developer, and will require a 
site plan as part of the zoning approval.  The zoning application will need to address the 
entirety of the area designated as Special Planning Area. 
 

Amendment Justification 
Looking at the Area Context Map, the site under consideration sits at the hard corner of 
Carefree Highway and Tom Darlington Drive.  The current adjacent uses at this intersection of 2 
arterial roadways is a neighborhood grocery center to the south, a resort and church to the 
east, and retail/office to the southeast.  All of these uses are adjacent to low density residential. 
 
In November 2020, the Carefree Town Council held a study session, and reviewed and 
discussed the future economic sustainability of Carefree.  During this study session it was 
outlined that the town will be facing annual operating deficit of over $3 million in 
approximately ten years, and to meet this deficit, additional commercial sites need to be 
considered as the town implemented it economic development strategy.  Furthermore, this site 



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

20 
 

was specifically discussed as a commercial site, along with a discussion about enticing further 
hospitality and neighborhood retail.   
 
On December 5, 2020, the Town Council further passed a resolution approving the 24-Month 
Economic Development plan, authorizing staff to work with the property owner on the 
proposed land use change. 
 
The general area is currently a resort destination, with the Boulders directly across the street, 
and Civana Resort and Spa nearby in Carefree, which has branded itself as a destination resort 
lifestyle community.  In both cases, the Boulders and Civana are excellent compliments to the 
low density residential, adjacent to them, and it is the intention of this application to set the 
expectation along the lines of these uses, and the retail uses associated with them.   
 
The intersection is also a natural location for restaurant and grocery anchored neighborhood 
retail.  The 10-acre corner (along with the eastern portion of the 2-acre along Carefree 
Highway, could be well suited for further neighborhood scale retail development, potentially 
hosting a small boutique grocery anchored center, and would provide enhanced neighborhood 
retail options for Carefree residents. 
 
Not only does the proposed general plan amendment fit in with the character of the 
neighborhood and general area, but it will also allow the Town of Carefree to address its future 
fiscal needs to meet other general plan obligations. 
 

The Site 
The site itself has never been developed, except for an original homestead residence that has 
long been abandoned.  The site is mostly native vegetation, with interesting rock formations, 
and a natural wash that runs primarily through the west side of the site.  The wash can act as a 
natural buffer to the residential to the west, and the natural rock formations on the north will 
limit overall development density. 
 
The site fronts both Tom Darlington Drive and Carefree Highway.  Both of these rights of way 
are owned and maintained by the City of Scottsdale, and are designated as minor arterials in 
the Scottsdale transportation master plan.  Area Context Map shows the intersection, and it is 
anticipated that further improvements to widen Carefree Highway, at the intersection would be 
necessary, as well as adding appropriate turn lanes on Tom Darlington.  Any applicant for 
Zoning will need to work with the City of Scottsdale to determine specific improvements and 
ingress/egress based upon expected project traffic counts.  It is anticipated that Whileaway will 
not connect to Carefree Highway, allowing for access to the site and minimizing traffic in the 
residential neighborhood.  The Town of Carefree owns the Wileaway Right of Way. 
 



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

21 
 

 
 

Mitigating Residential Neighborhood Impacts 
The site is adjacent to existing very low density residential to the west, and is at the bottom of 
the slope to Black mountain.  The site has two major features that actually act as natural 
buffers to the existing neighborhood.  These include a large perennial wash on the west side of 
the site.  This natural buffer would need to be preserved and act as a buffer to the residential 
homes.  Any development that is built west of the wash, would be in scale with the existing 
homes. The other natural feature includes several rock formations on the north side of the site.  
These formations should be incorporated to any future development, and will minimize the 
impact to the residential to the north. 
 
Site architecture will be important, and any development would need to get Town of Carefree 
approval and would fit in character with the architecture of the developments to the east of the 
site.  As a resort, it is anticipated that site architecture will be consistent with adjacent in nature 
with the other resorts in the immediate vicinity, which at the time of this application include 
the Boulders Resort and Civana Resort and Spa, and that development will use existing land 
forms, natural rock formations and natural vegetation.   
 
The new general plan designation will only change the underlying use, and any project would 
need to get additional zoning and design review approval. 
 

Anticipated Timing and Engagement 
May 12  Hold first open house 
Mid May 2021  Hold second open house 
July 2021 Amendment Text and Map draft sent out for 60-day review period 
September 2021 Finalize Amendment Text and Map for Planning and Zoning Commission 

consideration  
October 2021  Publish Hearing Notice Advertisement 
November 2021 Planning and Zoning Public Hearing 
December 2021 Town Council Public Hearing 

 



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

22 
 

Exhibit 4 – Email to Boulders HOA Management 
 
From: Steve Prokopek <steve@Carefree.org>  
Sent: Tuesday, May 18, 2021 3:47 PM 
To: Gen Beaulac <Gen@apm-management.com> 
Subject: General Plan Amendment 
 
Gen, 
 
I noticed in a recent HOA newsletter, that there was some discussion regarding he general plan 
amendment the Town of Carefree initiated for the 21 acres on the NWC of Tom Darlington and Carefree 
Highway. 
 
In November 2020, the Town held a workplan and economic development workshop, and established a 
process for identifying the key areas of public service, and the goals and strategies of the Town.  As part 
of the strategy, I created the 24-Month Economic Development Workplan, which was further passed by 
resolution December 2020.   
 
Included in the plan was a pathway to maintain future community financial stability, including 
recommendations for enhancing the commercial base. After considerable conversation, and review of 
past planning documents and  discussions, we determined it was in the nest interest of the community 
to seek amendment of this site to Special Planning Area.  It sits at an arterial intersection, with other 
commercial uses, and our focus for the change is on destination resort, which will further support our 
Town Center Retail, and will provide minimal impacts to neighboring residential uses.  The designation 
does offer does limited retail, but contrary to the newsletter, currently places several limitations 
preventing the site from becoming a "shopping center". 
 
There is no current project, and this is simply making the land use change to meet the growing needs of 
the community, and further capitalize on Carefree as a resort community.  Any future projects would 
need to seek further zoning approval, and provide a comprehensive site plan for the entire site.  This 
general plan amendment allows the adjacent neighbors the opportunity to add additional input to the 
general plan text, which will be the blueprint for any future proposed projects. 
 
The initial letters went to affected property owners within the citizens participation.  This included 
Boulders CP LLC, as listed owner.  However, I would like to provide information to the Boulders HOA as 
well.   Keep in mind, these are not public meetings, but neighborhood meetings open to the 
public.  There will also be public hearings for Planning and Zoning and Town Council per the attached 
schedule.  This is the initial step as we seek input and finalize the amendment text including public input. 
 
Please feel free to share this information with HOA members, and let them know they can drop off, mail 
or email comments, or participate in our next open house on May 26, 2021 at 33 Easy Street.  You or any 
interested residents can also call me on my cell at 623-694-2605. 

 
Steve Prokopek 
Economic Development Director 
Town of Carefree 
623-694-2605 

mailto:steve@Carefree.org
mailto:Gen@apm-management.com


October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

23 
 

steve@carefree.org 

 

Good morning Steve, 
Thank you so much for providing this additional information. I will pass this along to the Board. 
 

Gen Beaulac, CAAM®, CMCA® 
Community Manager  
Boulders Homeowners Association 
Office:    (480) 595-2099 
www.BouldersNorthHOA.com 

 
 
Professionally Managed by: 

Associated Property Management 
3260 E. Indian School Rd., Phoenix, AZ  85018 
480-941-1077    |   www.APM-management.com 

 

          
                             
Effective June 1, 2020,  our corporate office located at 3260 E. Indian School Rd. in Phoenix will begin to schedule 
and limit in-person visits.  The following guidelines have been established to ensure the safety of homeowners, 
employees and contractors when visiting the office:  appointments are required and requests are to be submitted at 
least 48 business hours in advance of the requested date.  Requesting a date does not guarantee availability, but we 
will do our best to accommodate.  Appointments will be available Monday through Thursday between 9:00 AM and 
4:00 PM and Friday from 10:00 PM to 3:00 PM and will be scheduled in the order requested.  Visitors will be required 
to wear a face mask or face covering and will need to provide their own.  Visitors who are ill or have symptoms will be 
required to reschedule.   Thank you in advance for your continued patience during this time. 

This e-mail and attachment(s) may contain information that is privileged, confidential, and/or exempt from 
disclosure under applicable law. If the reader of this message is not the intended recipient, you are 
hereby notified that any dissemination, distribution, or copy of this message is strictly prohibited. If 
received in error, please notify the sender immediately and delete/destroy the message and any copies 
thereof. 
 

mailto:steve@carefree.org
http://www.bouldersnorthhoa.com/
http://www.apm-management.com/
https://reviewourcompany.com/campaign/a61ebf4db6965e966f6bb7b6566da9f9


October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

24 
 

May 12, 2021 - 1st Neighborhood Meeting 
Meeting was held at 33 Easy Street from 5:00 pm to 7:00 pm 

35 people with 18 registering and 3 comment cards/letters submitted  

In general, the conversation hovered around the necessity for the use and potential impacts for the use 

change.  The discussion lasted about 2 hours, with Steve Prokopek explaining the decisions made and 

public processes that lead to this site being considered for a general plan amendment.  While the tenor 

of the discussion from several of the attendees was against the initiative, about 4 approached Steve 

after the meeting in support of or neutral to the proposal.  Key items that were discussed: 

Land Use Related 

1. The area already has retail that is struggling 

2. Access needs to be considered for safety 

3. Neighbors purchased with understanding VLDR is current land use 

4. Town needs to focus on events and advertising to generate revenue 

5. Needs to be part of a larger comprehensive financial/land use strategy  

Site Related 

1. Dangerous intersection at Languid Ln and Tom Darlington 

2. Building heights 

3. Positioning of service entrances and backs of buildings in relation to homes 

4. Views and site lines of prominent features like the “Boulders Stack” 

5. Both Boulders and Civana have sewer odor issues  

In response to the questions and discussions, the Town posted access to the presentation made by the 

Economic Development Division regarding the 12-month business plan and redevelopment area.  This 

helped provide greater context to the request, and how this amendment fits in.  

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

25 
 

May 12, 2021 Neighborhood Meeting Exhibits 

Exhibit 1 – Sign-In Sheets 

Exhibit 2 - Received Comments and Letters 

Exhibit 3 – Meeting Exhibits and Handouts 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

26 
 

Exhibit 1 Sign-In Sheets 

 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

27 
 

 



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

28 
 

 



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

29 
  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

30 
   



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

31 
 

Exhibit 2 – Received Comments and Letters 

 



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

32 
 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

33 
 

 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

34 
 

Exhibit 3 – Meeting Exhibits and Handouts 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

35 
 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

36 
 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

37 
 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

38 
 

Engagement Prior to 2nd Neighborhood Meeting 

May 18 – Received additional emails from Stephanie Barbour, Boulders Resident, regarding the 
notification process, and lack of availability of information available on the website.  She stated she 
could not attend the meeting.  Sent Stephanie an email regarding the process, along with the materials.  
Explained the website would be updated once we get through the initial neighborhood process, and 
have a draft amendment that could be shared with the community at large. 

May 18 – Had phone call with John Lassen (Property Owner Contact) to update him on outcome of the 
first neighborhood meeting. 

May 19 – Let Lucy Dickens ( Whileaway Resident), know her letter had been returned, as she had 
mentioned she never received one. In the exchange, Lucy shared a picture of her view from her house, 
and asked that we be sensitive to existing neighbor views.  

 

May 20 – Received email from Sue Hardie (Whileaway Resident,)thanking staff for a well-organized and 

informative meeting, along with a willingness to listen to neighbors. 

May 21 – Met in person with Marty Ellison, Les Hardie and Paul Sharman, all Whileaway residents.  They 

had held a neighborhood get together on Whileaway and Languid Ln. and shared their initial concerns.  

Staff summarized their concerns into an email that was sent in follow up to the this group of residents. 

1. No two story along the wash location unless in a low spot, but generally one-story casitas. 
2. Protecting views is a priority, and the boulder mountain is a valued view for the neighbors 
3. Two story and higher density ok if in low spots and closer to the corner, which sits at a lower 

elevation. 
4. Retail is ok if focused on the hard corner and consistent with resort type retail like in El Pedregal, 

including shops and restaurants.  Nothing that feels like a strip mall. 
5. 1 floor casitas ok on the west side of the wash with limited auto access and developed in a way 

as not to interfere with views and can assist, along with vegetation, to help screen noise from 
the site and traffic. 

6. No development on the west side of the wash to the parcel with access to Whileaway.  (Note:  
Staff may simply just leave this triangle VLDR since it has access to Whileaway.  This would 
prevent a non-residential structure).  

7. Look for ways to mitigate traffic noise 
8. Higher lot coverage density is ok with adequate buffers, view sightlines, onsite lighting, site 

noise and traffic sound travel. 



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

39 
 

June 7 – Catherine Mulholland (Whileaway resident) – Thanked staff for reassuring that we are also 

addressing Town Center, and that the assessment of Town Center as an area in need of revitalization, 

including inadequate sidewalk layout was correct.  This was in context to how the presentation made on 

how the potential resort development is a complement to the Town Center and fits into the overall 

economic development strategy. 

June 7 – Don Buch (Terravita Resident) – Thanked staff for the update. 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

40 
 

May 26, 2021 - 2nd Neighborhood Meeting 
Meeting was held at 33 Easy Street from 5:00 pm to 7:00 pm 

Exhibits from the meeting are the same as the previous meeting. 

25 Attendees with 13 signed and 3 letters/comment cards submitted 

Many of the same participants showed, up, but the meeting also included a representative from the 

church across Tom Darlington from the subject site.  In a brief conversation the church expressed 

concern regarding noise that could travel from the resort to the church site during services.  In general, 

many of the same issues were discussed and Steve Prokopek provided a lengthy update on the 

economic development plan, including the need for revenue and the redevelopment plans for Town 

Center.  Steve stressed how a resort fit into the context of the Carefree vision, and would support Town 

Center businesses.  It was a robust conversation that lasted the entire 2 hours.  Key items brought up 

include: 

1. Not creating another vacant retail center 
2. Address the intersection of Languid Ln and Tom Darlington 
3. Don’t implement this initiative without considering alternatives such as Town Center, Cave 

Creek Road/Carefree Highway, 40-acre State land 
4. Ensure that neighborhood commercial does not create a significant in/out traffic large parking 

fields, strip centers, excessive lighting and noise 
5. Minimize development/height/parking on the west side of the wash 
6. Maintain key neighborhood views including the “Boulder Stack” 
7. Use buildings and landscape to mitigate traffic noise 
8. Use natural landscape buffering and setbacks to protect privacy, and minimize visibility of 

buildings 
9. Create a gateway statement on the immediate corner 
10. Be conscious of building heights, and keep one story (Note: Staff will be looking at overall 

heights vs. floors) 
 
 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

41 
 

May 26, 2021 (2nd) Neighborhood Meeting Exhibits 

Exhibit 1 – Sign-In Sheets 

Exhibit 2 - Received Comments and Letters 

Exhibit 3 – Additional Meeting Exhibits and Handouts (Note this 

includes additional material to the first meeting handouts) 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

42 
 

Exhibit 1 – Sign-In Sheets 

 



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

43 
 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

44 
 

 



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

45 
 

Exhibit 2 – Received Comments and Letters 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

46 
 

 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

47 
 

 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

48 
 

 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

49 
 

 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

50 
 

Exhibit 3 – Additional Meeting Handouts 

 

Economic Development 

2021-2022 Workplan Strategic Work Plan 
 
As the Town of Carefree examines future services requirements and costs, under 
the current revenue models, we project the need for approximately $3.0-3.5 MM 
in additional annual revenue by 2030.  The contributing factors to this budget gap 
include: Inflationary increases (est. $1.8MM); Loss in revenues (est. $400K); 
Replacement of depreciated assets (est. $1.0MM).  Additionally, as the Town 
nears build-out, the Town can rely less on one-time revenue sources, such as 
construction sales tax, as well as, reductions to state shared revenues.   
 
In order to meet the future gap, and future expanded community service needs, 
the Town needs to create a sustainable source of recurring annual revenue.  In 
lieu of an ad valorem tax, the Town will need to implement strategies to create 
other sources, including retail sales tax, hospitality tax, and rental tax. 
 
Overall, to meet this primary goal, the Town has the following Economic 
Development Objectives: 
 
1. Develop the NEC of Cave Creek Road and Carefree Highway 

a. Anticipated Use – Regional Commercial 
b. Estimated Annual Revenue - $1,200,000 
c. Estimated Time Frame – 60% by 2024; 90% by 2026; 100% by 2028  

2. Develop the NWC of Carefree Highway and Tom Darlington Drive 
a. Anticipated Use – Hospitality and neighborhood retail/restaurant 
b. Estimated Annual Revenue - $1,000,000 
c. Estimated Time Frame – 80% by 2025; 100% by 2027 

3. Develop State land Parcel on Cave Creek Road south of Sky Ranch Airport  
a. Anticipated Use – Mixed Use with at 50% commercial/hospitality 
b. Estimated Annual Revenue - $1,300,000 
c. Estimated Time Frame – 50% by 2026; 100% by 2028 

4. Maximize Town Center 
a. Anticipated Use – Neighborhood Retail, Hotel and Rental Housing 
b. Estimated Revenue - $550,000 
c. Estimated Time Frame – 40% by 2021; 80% by 2024; 100% by 2027  

 
In order to meet these objectives, the Town will engage in the following strategic 
initiatives over the 24-month period (2021-2022 calendar). 
 

• Create Economic Development Advisory Board – The Economic Development 
Advisory Board is Town Council appointed Board, with Board Members having a 
two-year term.  After the initial Board is created, Board Members will be selected 
the December after in the year of a Town Council general election, with terms 



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

51 
 

running starting and ending on January 2.  The Commission will meet monthly, 
and provide staff guidance on the economic development, land development, 
disposition and acquisition and financial strategies approved by the Town 
Council.    

• Evaluate Town Signage and Pedestrian Access – Town will look to engage a 
consultant to evaluate and provide advice on a comprehensive Town Signage, 
walkway and crosswalk plan.  This may occur part and parcel to any refinements 
to the Town Center Master Plan. 

• Prepare options for potential Town Hall relocation and development of current 
Town Hall site – Town Hall currently sits on a valuable piece of commercial 
property with direct frontage to Caver Creek Road and the Sundial.  Staff will 
examine multiple options to see how a future, 5,000 square foot Town Hall can 
be completed, while enabling other Council objectives. 

• With owner consent, initiate, March 2021, and process general plan amendments 
as special commercial planning areas in an effort to meet future revenue needs 
of the Town. It is anticipated these will be provided for P&Z consideration 
November 2021 and Town Council December 2021. 

o 45 acre State Land Parcel south of Sky Ranch 
o 21 acre NWC of Carefree Highway and Tom Darlington 

• Initiate retail development, tourism and absorption study to better understand the 
capacity and nature of retail and destination venues, such as resorts, to build a 
better timeline and probability of reaching future revenue goals.  Absorption 
analysis should be done in concert with general plan amendments and Town 
Center master plan. 

• Engage Town Center property owners, starting January 2021, and begin master 
plan discussions.  This Master plan will further expand upon the initial concepts 
of the Baker Study, and along with the retail absorption analysis, refresh the 
economic and demographic data   

o Examine “Main Street” Concept for Cave Creek Rd and Tom Darlington 
Drive to provide commercial street frontage, sidewalks and on-street 
parking, which could improve pedestrian connectivity, slow traffic and 
create a better sense of arrival, as well as enable the viability of vacant 
commercial properties.  

o Examine parking, signage and pedestrian access in concert with a 
comprehensive Carefree signage and pedestrian study 

o Recommend zoning changes that allow for a more functional and efficient 
development and use of space consistent with the values of Carefree and 
financial goals to increase revenue.  Specifically, mixed use should be 
encouraged with a focus on adding more diversified residential 
opportunities to the Town Center  

o Charrette key corridors to develop better auto and pedestrian linkage 
between commercial subgroups, for example, the roadway/sidewalks 
connecting 100 Easy Street to Spanish Village.  

o Identify costs and funding solutions.  This is critical, as any solutions may 
require some level of property assessment. The key is to work with 



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

52 
 

property owners on these solutions so that public improvements made 
increase the viability and value of impacted commercial properties 

o Examine options to add additional residential within the Town Center 

• Continue to work with developers on NEC Cave Creek Rd and Carefree 

Highway.  Property is already zoned, and we are actively engaged with 

developers for the site. 

• Create wellness and destination strategy to build upon the vast number of 

wellness business in Carefree, Civana, Spirit in the Desert, Hampton Inn, as well 

as outdoor amenities including Bartlett Lake, Tonto National Forest, desert 

preserves, horseback riding and off-roading. Proposal to be completed by June 

2021. 

• Implement Marketing strategy (see below) 

• Work with businesses to coordinate sector associations.  The idea is to create 

retail business sector associations, such as restaurants, art, wellness, home and 

fashion, and develop marketing, PR and event strategies with each to generate 

more traffic.  The leaders of each organization can share information from group 

to group and can routinely provide advice to the Economic Development 

Commission. Complete all associations by May 2021. 

• Develop strategies to maximize gardens and Sanderson Lincoln pavilion to bring 

in the best possible events, that are complementary to Carefree, as well as, 

create a slate of community events and activities that benefit Carefree residents 

and businesses. Staff will consider options for professionally managed services.  

Bring recommendations to Council by June 2021. 

• Work with property owners on redevelopment and adaptive reuse strategies 

including Los Portales, Mariachi Plaza, 100 Easy Street 11 Sundial Plaza and 

Town Hall.  Engage during Town Center master plan discussions. 

 
 

 
 
 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

53 
 

Marketing Plan Outline 
• Hire communications and marketing coordinator 

• Develop strategies for 
o Local trade area 
o Greater phoenix destination 
o National program in conjunction with resort 

• Create relationships with Bartlett Lake, National forest and DFLT 

• Develop comprehensive social media and electronic platform 

• Update Economic Development Website with market information and site 
opportunities 

• Implement business development strategies with developers and brokers 

• Develop cluster retail associations 
o Restaurants 
o Art Galleries 
o Health, beauty and wellness 

• Work closely with businesses and local associations to identify customer bases 
and develop targeted marketing strategies, for example art consumers 

• Maximize the value of Sanderson Lincoln Pavilion, Thunderbird Artist shows, 
sundial and gardens 



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

54 
 

Follow Up Engagement From Neighborhood Meetings 
Throughout the post meeting engagement process, the applicant contacted the property owner (RPSS 

LLC) regarding results of neighborhood engagement and draft changes to be considered for a revised 

land use.  Property owner shared information with a resort development consultant for review.  Based 

upon feedback, the property owner was ok with the current revised draft of the amendment.  Key 

concerns of property owner and items discussed included: 

• Keeping Parcels 1 and 2 in the amendment and development use.  Property owner conferred 

with a resort consultant and stated that these parcels would be a significant benefit to the 

overall development of a quality boutique resort, and that these parcels could help keep a low 

profile/less intense development, where it’s envisioned these lots would be ideal for casitas or 

villas, which would fit the residential character of the adjacent uses.  There was an 

understanding that development would fit the difficult terrain of these sites, and that the retail 

and higher intensities would be south and east of the wash. 

• Development east of the wash adjacent to the Grenley home.  There will need to be adequate 

buffering, as this home backyard is the most impacted by proximity and visually to any 

development on the subject site. 

• Two-acre Parcel 5 north and west of wash.  It was discussed that building on this area is not 

feasible, nor desired by the neighborhood.  Existing floodplain and required setbacks would 

Complicate development in this location, and that this area and the wash are adequate buffers.  

Additionally, that there is an opportunity to pick up additional use of the property by combining 

it with the adjacent 10-acre parcel 4 as well as a commercial setback of 30 feet vs. 60 feet along 

Carefree Highway.   

 

Parcel 1 

Parcel 2 

 

 

Grenley Home 

Parcel 4 

Parcel 5 



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

55 
 

June 7, 2021 - Sent follow up email to all attendees that requested further information.  Email 

summarized the meeting, and attached the 24-Month Plan for Economic Development to clarify 

questions regarding the context of the land use request. 

July 2, 2021 - Sent second follow up email to all attendees that provided the update text to the General 

Plan amendment as an attachment, which also included a floodplain map so people could see how this 

impacts the site. 

July 2021 - Updated the Carefree.org website to include the General Plan information on the Economic 

Development Webpage, as well as include an update in the September Spotlight on the Carefree.org 

website. Hospitality Growth Strategy   | Carefree, AZ - Official Website 

9/13/2021 - Sent third follow up email confirming the 7/2 version of General Plan amendment as final 

draft, along with the remainder of the process. 

Further Individual Input and Engagement 

Stephanie Barbour (Boulder’s Resident) - Continued the conversation with Stephanie discussing how the 

resort use would support Town Center, as well as, provide more stable revenue streams for critical 

services.  After this conversation, she commented that 1. Being high quality and unique to the location 

(Hermosa Inn as reference), would be important to win resident support.  2. Maintain natural desert.  3. 

That if part of a revenue strategy, the Town should look at how these revenue sources lead to Tier 1 

services.  Note: Ms. Barbour stated that her comments do not suggest or imply support for the 

amendment, and further noted much would depend on how any future project would impact Black 

Mountain residents.  

Maureen Benedetto (Boulder’s Resident) - Maureen reached out, and asked to be included in any future 

updates, and also questioned the outreach process.  All information was shared with her, including the 

Boulder’s HOA outreach email, and she was included in the third general follow up email.  She 

additionally inquired about water to the site, and those questions were responded to by Greg Crossman 

and Gary Neiss. 

  

https://www.carefree.org/451/Hospitality-Growth-Strategy


October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

56 
 

Whileaway Residents (Sharman, Hardie, Ellison, Dickens, Grenley, Veves) – Received the following text 

messages on June 14. 2021.  This information was included in the discussions with the property owner.  

In a conversation with the Planning Director, it was noticed that many of these issues would be more 

zoning related as stipulations to the site plan and zoning.  This information was relayed to the residents, 

also noting the process for rezoning, and that these issues would be relayed as part of the information 

provided to Planning and Zoning and Town Council. This text also triggered further onsite evaluation, 

from each of these properties, which all together would help shape the current version of the General 

Plan Amendment.   

 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

57 
 

Abutting Neighbor Site Evaluation 

Art and Janet Veves – Had multiple conversations with Art and Janet via email and in person, including a 

2.5-hour on property conversation and walk of the north side of the subject site.  Art and Janet have 

concerns regarding the view back to the “Boulder Stack”, noise, access to Languid Lane and lighting from 

the site disrupting current dark sky conditions, and asked about removal of Parcels 1 and 2.  The 

following is the view from the Veves residence.  Please note that the Veves residence is not adjacent to 

the site, but is separated by an existing residential lot to the east.  This lot will remain Rural-70.  For 

context, the building in the distance is the Boulder’s Spa.  It’s one of the largest buildings in the area, 

and is 30 feet tall from the roadway grade at Tom Darlington.  The Veves residence sits at a grade 

approximately 15 feet above the Tom Darlington. 

 

For further context the trees in the following view corridor are in the 25 foot range.  From the property 

adjacent to the Veves residence, the land slopes down toward the street grade, with the majority of 

buildable area on Parcel 1 and Parcel 2 on the subject site at grade with the street.  Note also on the 

NEC of Parcel 2, there is a large rock formation preventing any development.  The following is a view 

diagram based upon the picture above. 

 

Based upon this analysis, it appears that development height in the view corridor is manageble, and 

should remain below the low grade of the “Boulder Stack”. Note: Today a home could be 24 feet, 

including the the property site in between the Veves Residence and subject site. 

Parcel 1 

 

Parcel 2 



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

58 
 

Whileaway Site Evaluation – This evaluation examined the subject site from 4 different points 1. 

Sharman Home 2. Ellison Home (Back Yard) 3. Grenely Home (Back Yard) 4. Dickens Home.  This provides 

perspective from both sides of Whileaway and at different ends of the street.  The Sharman residence 

has no view to the subject site, as it sits below grade and is blocked by existing vegetation.  During any 

site plan, this vegetaiton buffer needs to be considered.  The Ellison residence sits about 2 to 3 feet 

below the eastern edge of the wash, and along with existing landscape provides limited view of the 

subject site.  The Grenley residence sits at or slightly above the subject site grade, and will be the most 

impacted regarding views.  The bulk of the subject site sits to the southeast of the residence.  The 

southeast view doesn’t have any thing of interest.  However, it should be noted that a portion of the 

subject site (west of the wash) is directly adjacent to Grenley residence, and consideration of this needs 

to be addressed in the site plan and zoning process, as well as any view back to the “Boulder Stack” and 

any additional visual buffering towards development on the subject site.  Note:  the residence north of 

Grenley is owned by the subject property owner, and commects are reflected earlier in this report.  The 

view from street grade from the Dicken’s residence is moslty hinderd by vegetation and distance, 

however, it is noted that the view from the second floor will look down towards the subject site. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Key Takeaways for Site Plan and Zoning Consideration: 

• Natural vegetation on west and east side of wash acts as visual buffer 

• Adjecency and buffering to the Grenely Residence - Blue 

• Buffer from south side SEC of Ellison Residence 

• Existing Views to the “Boulder Stack” 

• Northwest portion of Parcel 5 south of Hardie and east of Sharman   

 

 

 



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

59 
 

For context with the following diagrams, El Pedrigal is roughly 50 feet to the top of tower and 30 feet to 

roof line.  Shopping center is 30 foot to roofline.  Left photo is towards Boulder Stack, Right Photo is 

towards intersection of Carefree Highway and Tom Darlington Drive. 

 

 



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

60 
 

Follow Up From Neighborhood Meetings Exhibits 

6/7/2021 Email 

7/2/2021 Email 

9/13/2021 Email 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

61 
 

6/7/2021 
Dear Open House Attendee: 
 
Thank you very much for your participation in the neighborhood input process regarding the general 
plan amendment for the Northwest Corner of Carefree Highway and Tom Darlington Drive.  The 
conversations and input were extremely helpful.  In total, from the 37 registered letter sent out, we had 
a total of 40 participants, with 32 requesting further information.   
 
I appreciated the opportunity to discuss the rationale for the amendment, as well as, the other 
economic development initiatives.  As presented, the Town has the responsibility to ensure the long 
term sustainability, ensure productive land use, and how these uses fit together Carefree.  I attached the 
24-Month workplan for your reference. 
 
As discussed, my role with the Town is to ensure a healthy economic balance of complementary uses 
that allow for the provision of quality public services, however, this should not be done at the expense 
of those potentially impacted.   
 
At this point, the Town is in process of taking the information provided, reviewing this with the Town 
Planner, and further amending the text and map amendments that were provided at the 
meeting.  These revisions will be shared as soon as they are available.  Comments and concerns to be 
included in the revision: 
 

1. Not creating another vacant retail center 
2. Address the intersection of Languid Ln and Tom Darlington 
3. Don’t implement this initiative without considering alternatives such as Town Center, Cave 

Creek Road/Carefree Highway, 40-acre state land 
4. Ensure that neighborhood commercial does not create a significant in/out traffic large parking 

fields, strip centers, excessive lighting and noise 
5. Minimize development/height/parking on the west side of the wash 
6. Maintain key neighborhood views including the “Boulder Stack” 
7. Use buildings and landscape to mitigate traffic noise 
8. Use natural landscape buffering and setbacks to protect privacy, and minimize visibility of 

buildings 
9. Create a gateway statement on the immediate corner 
10. Be conscious of building heights, and keep one story (Note: we will be looking at overall heights 

vs. floors) 
 
Again, thank you for the comments, letters, phone calls, emails and photos.  They have been an 
excellent help. 
 
Steve Prokopek 
Economic Development Director 
Town of Carefree 
623-694-2605 

 
 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

62 
 

7/2/2021 
Dear Open House Attendee, 
 
You are receiving this email because you asked to be included in the ongoing discussion regarding the 
general plan amendment for the Northwest Corner of Tom Darlington Drive and Carefree Highway. 
 
Attached is the revised version of the text and map amendments.  This revision takes into account all 
comments, including those from the Town Planner.  I feel this reflects the majority of input received, 
and will allow for the type of development we discussed, without creating unrealistic barriers to having 
a successful land use. 
 
One specific issue I want to address, was the request for single story.  The challenge with this, is single 
story does not address building height and density.  Additionally, having all, single story buildings, could 
be at odds with minimizing site disturbance and maximizing buffers and open natural open 
space/landscape.  Therefore, the language deals with site intensity and adjacent use. 
 
Also, I included a map of the flood plain, which will be preserved. 
 
If you have any further questions or comments, please feel free to contact me. If any further changes 
are made, I will continue to notify you. 
 
Remaining Schedule 
July 2021                          Amendment Text and Map draft sent out for 60- day review period 
September 2021             Finalize Amendment Text and Map for Planning and Zoning Commission 

consideration  
October 2021                  Publish Hearing Notice Advertisement 
November 2021              Planning and Zoning Public Hearing 
December 2021               Town Council Public Hearing 
  
Thanks, 
 
Steve Prokopek 
Economic Development Director 
Town of Carefree 
623-694-2605 
  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

63 
 

9/13/2021 
Dear Interested Participant: 
 
You are receiving this because you requested to be informed on the on updates regarding the General 
Plan Amendment for the NWC of Tom Darlington and Carefree Highway.  Attached is the current 
amendment draft.  I feel very comfortable that this amendment reflects the best use for this site, while 
taking into account the impacts it potentially can have on the adjacent properties.  Outside of the input 
to date, neighbors and the public will have 2 public hearings to further address General Plan 
Amendment.  It is anticipate these will be done via Zoom, so I wanted to provide notice that you will 
also have the opportunity to submit any written comments, prior to the public hearings to be read into 
public record directly, to Kandace French at Kandace@carefree.org.  The links to the Zoom Meeting will 
be provided on www.Carefree.org.  You can also access the other economic development initiatives on 
this site.  
 
The Amendment is still currently in the 60 day outside jurisdiction review.  This will run through 
September 27, but we do not expect to have any issues.  
 
The next steps are: 
 

1. October              30 day notice of Planning and Zoning Commission Public Hearing – These  
activities will be handled by the Planning Department in accordance to Town 
Code 

1. Publish in Local Paper 
2. Notify Property Owners in Immediate Area 
3. Place signs onsite 

2. November 8       Planning and Zoning Meeting 
3. December 7       Town Council 

 
Attached is the most recent version, which is unchanged from the last email sent.  Keep in mind, this is a 
General Plan amendment.  This amendment sets the use and outlines the expectations for future 
development.  The following outlines (based upon the neighborhood meeting discussion and input) the 
Planning and Zoning presentation I intend to make.  If there is anything else you think needs to be 
addressed, please let me know: 
 

• Why did the Town initiate this General Plan Amendment? 
o The Town has set goals to increase and diversify its economic base and revenue streams 

to offset rising costs and demand for increased services  
o This site represents one of the best opportunities to address the revenue needs of the 

Town, as it sits at an existing commercial corner 
o This site will also fit into a larger economic development platform that includes Town 

Center, The 45 acre state land parcel on Cave Creek Rd., and the NEC of Cave Creek 
Road and Carefree Highway 

o In total, these opportunities can increase revenues by about $3 million annually, and 
provide for more stability beyond the handful of revenue producers, including Lowes 
and Bashas. 

o While the Town has the fiduciary obligation to improve and stabilize revenue streams, it 
also has the obligation to residents impacted by these decisions.  While the Town has an 
interest in this site for a greater goal of the community, we do not have a vested 

mailto:Kandace@carefree.org
http://www.carefree.org/


October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

64 
 

interest in the site itself.  Therefore, the Town could take a more objective approach 
when balancing revenue needs with project impact mitigation. 

• Why a Resort Use? 
o The Town of Carefree was founded as a resort community 
o The character and context of the intersection supports a resort use (This is an 

established commercial corner on an arterial intersection) 
o The landscape, views, proximity to amenities, retail and restaurants make this an 

excellent resort site  
o A resort use can be designed and developed in better context with large lot residential, 

for example Paradise Valley 
o Resort use will further support businesses in Town Center, and help further help 

Carefree solidify itself as a destination, while creating a complementary mix with the 
Hilton and Civana 

o The Town feels very confident the use is valid, will contribute to the communities 
sustainability, and can be a seamless fit to the existing adjacent uses. 

• Neighborhood Input 
o We held two in person meetings, and I have followed up directly with may residents in 

the area to gather input. 
o In these conversations, there were two elements.  1.  The validity of use, which I 

addressed above and 2. The impact of use.  While we strive to find win-win scenarios, 
we also look to make sure that such decisions have benign impacts on surrounding use. 

o As part of the input process, the Town did communicate with the property owner 
regarding the neighborhood input, as well as seek property owner input as well. 

o As to number 2 above the key conversation points were 
▪ Building Height and uses and intensities next to residential 
▪ Set-backs and Buffers 
▪ The amount of non-resort retail 
▪ Parking density and strip mall look and feel 
▪ Site noise and sound attenuation 
▪ Protecting views of prominent features 
▪ Keeping the natural environment preserved as much as possible 
▪ Architecture that is in character with the Sonoran Desert   

o All of these factors were taken into account with the following incorporated into the 
document 

▪ Require adequate setbacks and maintain existing natural features 
▪ Utilize existing land formations and preserve the natural wash 
▪ Further limitations to retail intensity and  including a statement to not look or 

feel like  retail center 
▪ No corporate branded architecture, and architecture must be unique and in 

character with the area 
▪ Site intensity to match up with adjacent uses 
▪ No access to Whileaway, and no customer access anticipated on Languid Lane 
▪ Site design and layout will need to evaluate neighbor views 

o Additional Discussion 
▪ Need to look at the intersection of Languid Lane and Tom Darlington for safety 

concerns 
  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

65 
 

o Next Steps 
▪ Any project would require a rezone, and would need to follow the process for 

rezoning including neighborhood outreach and two public hearings. 
▪ Any rezone would require a complete site plan for the entirety of the 21-acre 

site 
 
Please feel free to call me or email me with any questions. 
 
Thanks, 
 
Steve Prokopek 
Economic Development Director 
Town of Carefree 
623-694-2605 

  



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

66 
 

Conclusion 
This process included a robust neighborhood engagement effort to gain input from adjacent and bearby 

neighbors most affected by the General Plan Amedment.  Much of the early disucsison focused on the 

validity of the use.  After establishing the value of the use to the community, there was significant input 

regarding site issues and mitigating site impacts.   

As applicant, the Town of Carefree took care in gathering this input, and capturing it in this report.  In 

additon, care was taken to see things through the lens of the neghbors most affected, and performed a 

site analysis from adjacent properties.  

It’s safe to say that the input gained from the neghbors helped guide qualitiative changes to the General 

Plan Amedment from its first draft to the most current draft.  Specifically, these changes further limited 

the retail component, set higher expectaitons for design, and helped further shape language around the 

balancing of intesity and natural open space. 

Additionally, the Town, as applicant, worked with the subject site property owner to further gain input, 

and general acceptance of the changes made to the draft. 

Staff also evaluated the subject site from outside the 500 foot notification area, and the additionally 

impacted are 3 homes noted below.  These homes look down on the subject site from an elevated 

location.  The home with the most impacted view is also owned by the subject site owner.  Views and 

impacts from these homes will need to be taken into account, especially pertaining to lighting as well as 

sound. 

 

 



October 20, 2021 – 21-3-GPA 

67 
 

As the Planning and Zoning Commission and Town Council review this information.  It should be noted, 

this is a General Plan Amdenemnt, and is meant to establish use, and the general parameters of 

exepcetaiton of use on the site.  Many issues brought up will need to be further vetted through the site 

plan and zoning process including: 

• Details of adequate buffering and setbacks 

o In particular adjacent to the Ellison and Grenley homes 

• Light and noise requirements 

• Positioning of intesity and density of development from the intesection towards the exisintg 

homes 

• Ensuring the design and architecture meet the expectations for a high quality development 

• The development somethhing Carefree is prod of to have as a gateway to the Town  of Carefree 

 

 

 

 




